1999

Jensen v. Jensen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Linda H. Jensen (“Wife”) appeals a final Supplemental Decree of Divorce entered by the district court on January 19, 1999. This court’s jurisdiction is based upon Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(h).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Husband, a lawyer, transferred certain Zions Bank stock he received as a gift to himself and Wife as joint tenants in 1986. Did the trial court err in nevertheless holding the stock to be husband’s separate property, based upon Husband’s alleged subjective intent that he did not really mean to make Wife an equal owner of the stock? This issue presents a question of law and is reviewed for correctness. *Bingham v. Bingham*, 872 P.2d 1065 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). This issue was preserved at R. 120-21.

2. Did the trial court err in awarding all of the parties' interest in significant ranching operations to Husband, even though the parties both enhanced the value of those operations through marital funds and their joint efforts during the marriage? This issue is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Cummings v. Cummings*, 821 P.2d 472 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). This issue was preserved at R. 111-19.

GOVERNING LAW

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules or regulations whose interpretation is determinative or of central importance.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below.

The parties were married July 30, 1970. Wife filed a complaint for divorce on February 16, 1996. (R. 1-4.) The trial was held October 28-30, 1997, and November 12, 1997. Over a year later, the court issued its Memorandum Decision, Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and Supplemental Decree of Divorce on January 19, 1999, in which the court determined that, after a twenty-seven year marriage, the bulk of the parties' estate consisted of Husband's separate property. (R. 196-246.) Husband timely filed Objections to Supplemental Findings of Fact, Supplemental Decree of Divorce, Motion to Amend and Request for Oral Argument pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 52 on January 29, 1999. (R. 247-52.) This motion was denied by order entered April 14, 1999. (R. 296-99.) The notice of appeal was filed May 13, 1999. (R. 300-02.)

B. *Statement of Facts.*

James T. Jensen (“Husband”) and Linda H. Jensen (“Wife”) were married in 1970 in Utah and had three children during the marriage, two of whom had reached the age of majority at the time of trial, and the other of whom was still in high school. (R. 1-2, R. 323 at pp. 5, 12-13.)

Wife was fifty-one years old at the time of trial. She attended college for three years before the marriage but upon Husband’s request did not work outside the home during most of the parties’ marriage. (R. 323 at pp. 6, 29, 120.) Husband explained that he did not want Wife to work during the marriage so they could spend more time together. (R. 324 at p. 195.) In accord with his wishes, instead of working outside the home, Wife focused on maintaining the parties’ domestic affairs and caring for their children. (R. 109; R. 323 at pp. 44-45.) The only exception to this is that she worked part-time from 1985 to 1990 at Husband’s law office performing clerical work. (R. 323 at pp. 43, 89; R. 324 at pp. 196-97.)

Husband was fifty seven years old at the time of trial. He was admitted to the Utah State Bar in 1969. (R. 323 at p. 136.) He practiced law with his father, Therald Jensen, in Price, Utah, until 1990, when he became in-house counsel for Savage Industries. (R. 323 at pp. 7, 45.) He is currently Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Savage Industries. (R. 221.) Husband was a new attorney when the parties were married, and Wife’s father gave Husband “quite a bit of business” in the early 1980’s by introducing Husband to contacts in the mining industry. (R. 323 at pp. 26, 117.)

Over the course of the twenty-seven-year marriage, the parties acquired substantial assets and maintained a high standard of living. (R. 109; R. 323 at pp. 55-57.) They received property and other assets, through gift or inheritance, from each of their parents. (R. 109.) Wife's father gave the parties the land on which their first home was built,¹ and Husband's father was the source of some of the ranch properties and part of the bank stock that is at issue on appeal. (R. 323 at pp. 37-38). These assets were commingled between the parties. Wife is contesting the court's award of two assets: 58,352 shares of Zions Bank stock, and the ranching operations (consisting of T-N Company, T-N Ranches, and the Moynier Ranch). The court awarded the Zions Bank stock and the ranching operations to Husband as separate property. Wife contends that all of the Zions Bank stock and the parties' interest in the ranching operations was marital property and should have been equally divided.

1. *Zions Bank Stock.*

The parties owned 88,493 shares of Zions Bank stock as joint tenants at the time of trial.² (Defendant's Exhibit 20.) The initial shares of stock were obtained in 1973, when Zions Bank purchased Carbon/Emery Bank in a stock exchange, and Husband's premarital shares of Carbon/Emery Bank were converted to 2,616 shares of Zions stock. After taking

¹ The home was in Spring Glen, Utah, and the parties jointly held title to the land and home. The parties divided the proceeds from the sale of the home equally. (R. 323 at pp. 37-38).

² Husband requested in October 1997 that Zions Bank verify the number of shares held by the parties. Zions Bank confirmed that as of October 9, 1997, there were 86,172 shares held by the parties as joint tenants, and that the parties had recently received an additional 2,321 shares through a dividend reinvestment program that was held in book entry form. (Defendant's Exhibit 20).

into account subsequent sales, those shares eventually grew, through stock splits and dividend reinvestment, to 58,352 shares at the time of trial. Husband conceded that the remaining 30,141 shares of Zions Bank stock were marital property; Husband's mother gifted approximately 10,066 shares to the parties during their marriage, and the parties purchased additional shares, and these shares had grown to 30,141 shares at the time of the divorce. (R. 325 at p. 87.) He contended, and the trial court held, that the remaining 58,352 shares were Husband's separate property. (R. 207-08).

In 1985, Wife asked Husband if he would agree to put both of their names on all shares of stock as joint tenants "and he didn't have a problem with that. It was done. Before I even really realized it. And I felt at that point it wasn't an issue with him, or he wouldn't have done it" (R. 157; R. 323 at p. 64.) She testified that she asked to convert all shares to joint tenancy for two reasons: because she wanted some financial security if he died, and because she felt they "were working for everything together" in their marriage. (R. 323 at pp. 127-28.)

On the other hand, Husband claimed he only put Wife's name on the stock certificates as a joint tenant because he "got tired" of discussing the matter with her. (R. 324 at p. 215.) He contended that he did not intend to give Wife a present interest in the stock, but only intended to avoid probate. He conceded at trial that the stock certificates gave her a present interest in the stock, but contended he did not really intend that they would divide the shares equally if they divorced. (R. 324 at p. 216.) He never informed her of his secret intent not to transfer a present interest, nor did he suggest that she consult with a lawyer when he put

her name on the stock certificates. (R. 325 at pp. 85-87.) Husband admitted that he could have legally put the stock in a trust that would have given all shares to Wife in the event of death but no shares in the event of divorce. (R. 325 at p. 86.) He further admitted that his father had an active probate law practice at the time and would have known how to achieve this. (R. 324 at p. 192.) Finally, the parties treated the stock as a marital asset during the marriage; they jointly paid taxes on dividends that were reinvested (Defendant's Exhibit 4; Plaintiff's Exhibit 5), and received dividends periodically from the stock and used them to pay family expenses. (R. 323 at p. 65.)

The value of the 88,493 shares was \$2,491,090, and Wife proposed that she be awarded half of the shares, or 44,247 shares. (R. 42, 109.) Instead, the court awarded her one-half of the 30,141 shares that Husband conceded were marital property, or 15,071 shares. (R. 207-08.) As for the remaining shares acquired during the marriage, the court stated that there was "no evidence adduced at the trial of any donative intent" in the 1985 transfer, and thus awarded those shares to Husband as his separate property. (R. 231.)

2. The Ranching Operations.

The ranching operations consist of three distinct but inextricably related assets. T-N Ranches and Moynier are essentially land-holding entities. T-N Ranches is a partnership owned by Husband and his three siblings; it owns some 35,000 acres of land in Carbon County, Utah, along with associated water rights and grazing permits. (R. 119; R. 323 at p. 164; Defendant's Exhibit 39; Plaintiff's Exhibit 11.) The Moynier property consists of 21,400 acres of land in Carbon, Duchesne and Utah Counties, together with state and federal

grazing permits covering some 100,000 acres of land, title to which is in the name of Husband and his two brothers. (R. 323 at pp. 157-62; R. 324 at pp. 180-81; Defendant's Exhibits 28 and 30.) T-N Company a partnership also owned by Husband and his two brothers, and it is the operating entity for the ranching property, owning cattle, equipment, and machinery associated with the ranch. (R. 323 at pp. 148-49.) T-N Company leases the entire 35,000 acres T-N Ranches landholding from T-N Ranches and the Moynier property for a nominal sum of \$1,000 per year. (R. 323 at p. 168.)

In support of his claim that Wife was not entitled to any portion of T-N Company or T-N Ranches, Husband offered evidence that Wife has never owned an equity interest in them in her own name and alleged that she only rarely worked on the ranches. (R. 326 at p. 31.) Initially, Judge Young discounted these facts, acknowledging that "there is an overall family environment that is being conducted and created and she's rendering contributions to that, allowing him to render contributions to the other" (R. 326 at p. 32.) The court also noted that the fact Husband worked for free for the ranching operations over a period of several years weighed in Wife's favor, since his contributions to the ranching operations took time away from their marriage but benefited the ranching operations. (R. 326 at pp. 35-36.) Nonetheless, the court ultimately did not award her any interest in the ranch property. (R. 227.)

The trial court determined that T-N Company and T-N Ranches were "inherited property" and awarded the entire interest in T-N Company and T-N Ranches to Husband. (R. 227.) The court based its determination on testimony that Therald Jensen had acquired

the land throughout his lifetime, then gifted it over time to his children in order to fulfill a dream of giving away his estate to his children before he died. (R. 222.) The court additionally expressed concern that if he awarded Wife half of Husband's share in T-N Ranches or T-N Company, it would create too small of a minority interest in a closely-held corporation. (R. 326 at pp. 15-16.)

Regarding the Moynier property, the trial court apparently believed that it was Wife's burden to prove that the property was paid for with marital funds, in the absence of evidence that separate funds were used to acquire it. (R. 223-24.) Even though the court found that part of the down-payment came from marital funds and that the installment payments came from income earned in the ranching operation during the marriage, the court concluded that it was "equitable" that the entire property be considered Husband's separate property. (R. 223-24.)

Although the ranching properties constitute a single enterprise, the ownership and background of each entity is somewhat unique, and so they are discussed separately below. Husband and his two brothers are presently involved in a partition lawsuit regarding all of the ranching properties. (Defendant's Exhibit 44.)

A. *T-N Company.*

T-N Company was formed in 1969 by Husband's father, Therald Jensen, and his three sons James, Butch and Jerry. (R. 78.) It initially owned construction equipment and cattle. (R. 323 at pp. 7, 35.) T-N Company still operates as a cattle business, but in 1997 much of the construction equipment was sold for \$900,000. (R. 323 at p. 149.) Out of the remaining

assets of T-N Company, the remaining equipment is worth approximately \$600,000, and the remaining cattle and other livestock are worth approximately \$1.1 million. (R. 323 at pp. 150-53.) T-N Company also owns several trucks and trailers and a shop building. (R. 325 at 18; Defendant's Exhibit 12.)

Throughout the course of the parties' marriage, Husband has maintained the books of T-N Company and T-N Ranches, made most major decisions with regard to the company, and worked most weekends on matters related to T-N Company and/or T-N Ranches. (R. 323 at p. 35; R. 324 at pp. 193-94; R. 325.) Wife testified that Husband "worked five days a week in the office, and . . . most of the weekend was spen[t] working at the ranch." (R. 323 at p. 35). He often participated in construction projects on the land, operating the heavy machinery and doing "whatever needed to be done." (R. 323 at p. 36).

The parties' testimony as to the amount of time Wife spent specifically on the ranching operations differed; Wife testified that she "often" accompanied Husband to the ranch properties on weekends and performed cooking and maintenance duties, and Husband claimed she only worked on the ranches ten times at most toward the end of the marriage. (R. 81; R. 323 at pp. 119-20.) Nonetheless, it is undisputed that while Husband was working on the ranching operations, Wife was tending to the family's needs.³ (R. 109.)

³ Husband argued that Wife is not entitled to any portion of the ranching operations because she did not "support" him in his ranching efforts. (R. 81.) While it is true she was opposed to the fact that he spent so much time on the ranches that he spent little with her and their children, she was "supporting" the family while he was away at the ranches by raising the children, paying bills, etc.

According to the tax returns and equity accounts for T-N Company, Husband owns 49.29% of the company, and his two brothers own the remainder in equal shares. (R. 79; R. 324 at pp. 22-24, 80.) However, Husband claims the brothers made an oral "agreement" at some point that they each really own one-third of the company. (R. 324 at p. 108.) His two brothers receive yearly salaries from T-N Company, yet Husband has never drawn a salary from T-N Company, even though he spent as much time on the ranching operations as they did throughout the parties' marriage. (R. 323 at pp. 126, 148; R. 324 at pp. 199-202.) He also performed free legal work for T-N Company. (R. 324 at p. 202.)

Over the years, T-N Company required major cash subsidy in order to continue operating. In the early years, that subsidy came from Husband's father, who loaned a significant amount to T-N Company in exchange for promissory notes from the company. (R. 325 at pp. 87-88). Husband's father later gifted his interest in the promissory notes separately to Husband and Wife in \$10,000 annual increments each as part of his estate planning. (R. 325 at pp. 87-88). By 1993, T-N Company owed Husband \$126,931 and Wife \$30,000. (R. 324 at p. 51). It owed Husband's law office \$78,348. (R. 324 at p. 51.) It also owed \$85,031 to Malpaso, a trucking company which was formed during the marriage and which was for that reason clearly a marital asset even though the stock was in Husband's name. (R. 323 at pp. 34-35, 174-75.) The funds Malpaso and Wife lent to T-N Company were used to purchase heavy machinery for T-N Company, which machinery was then used as collateral by the company to secure financing for additional growth and development. (R. 118.) In addition, Malpaso, a marital asset, was completely absorbed into T-N Company.

In 1993, the debts described above were converted into equity in T-N Company. (R. 324 at pp. 51-53; R. 325 at pp. 87-88.) This equity was shown as part of Husband's capital in the company although it is undisputed that a portion of that equity came from marital property (Malpaso) and a portion came from Wife's separate interest in the promissory notes.

The trial court failed to account for the \$30,000 owed to Wife directly or for any portion of the \$85,031 owed to Malpaso. Furthermore, in early 1996, the parties sold \$65,000 of the Zions Bank stock they held as joint tenants and transferred the proceeds into T-N Company. (R. 323 at pp. 66, 81-82; R. 325 at p. 48; Plaintiff's Exhibit 7.) Again, the trial court failed to account for Wife's portion of this contribution into T-N Company.

The parties presented different values for T-N Company at trial. According to Wife's expert Deane Smith, T-N Company is worth \$2.2 million, and Husband's 49.29% share is worth \$1,066,000. (R. 323 at p. 132; R. 324 at p. 23.) Husband's expert Derk Rasmussen valued T-N Company at \$1.4 million. (R. 324 at pp. 140- 41.) The trial court did not resolve the valuation issue.

B. *T-N Ranches.*

T-N Ranches is a corporate entity formed in 1983. It owns the title to the ranch property and grazing permits T-N Company uses at a token rental. (R. 323 at pp. 7, 166, 168.) Husband has acted as T-N Ranches' principal attorney since 1992, after his father's death. (R. 325 at p. 82.) In 1988, Husband and Wife jointly gifted an 8.38% ownership interest in T-N Ranches to Husband's two brothers and his sister. (R. 324 at pp. 24, 50;

R. 325 at p. 85; Plaintiff's Exhibit 12.) This left each of the four siblings owning 3.53% of T-N Ranches. T-N Company held the remainder. Upon Therald Jensen's death in 1992, the shares were reallocated, leaving each sibling with 25% of T-N Ranches. (R. 222; R. 324 at p. 50.) Although the 1988 gift to Husband's siblings was made by Husband and Wife as joint owners, Husband contended at trial that the interest was his sole and separate property.

T-N Company leases over 35,000 acres of land, plus grazing permits, from T-N Ranches and the Moynier property at the reduced rate of \$1,000 per year for the entire property, which works out to 1.8 cents per acre for the owned property and nothing for the leases and permits. (R. 323 at p. 168.) Wife's expert valued the parties' 25% interest in T-N Ranches at \$1,312,500. (R. 323 at pp. 11, 164; R. 324 at pp. 32-33.) Husband's expert valued the parties' interest in T-N Ranches at \$127,208, prior to application of an alleged minority interest discount. (R. 324 at pp. 131-32, 152-56.) The trial court did not resolve the valuation issue.

C. *The Moynier Ranch.*

The Moynier Ranch consists of 21,400 deeded acres of ranch land in Carbon, Duchesne and Utah Counties, as well as over 100,000 acres of federal and state grazing permits. (R. 323 at pp. 157-62; R. 324 at pp. 180-81; Defendant's Exhibit 30) It was acquired in 1976, well into the marriage, for approximately \$827,000. The \$25,000 down payment came from the parties' marital funds. (R. 82; R. 224.) The court found that the installment payments, were "paid for through the ranching operations or T.N. Company."

(R. 223.) Husband admitted that \$148,000 of the purchase price did not come from sales or exchanges of separate property. (R. 323 at p. 182.)

Husband would not express an opinion on the value of the Moynier Ranch, but his expert valued the parties' one-third interest at \$333,679. (R. 323 at p. 173; R. 324 at p. 126.) The expert's opinion was based on an estimate from a real estate appraiser, Sam Sanders, whose wife works for Husband at Savage Industries. (R. 325 at p. 96.) However, the Utah County Assessor valued the Utah County portion of the Moynier property alone at \$3,370,000, and Husband did not protest this valuation. (R. 324 at p. 181; R. 325 at p. 84.) Wife's expert valued the Moynier Ranch at \$5,375,000, and the parties' one-third interest at \$1,791,667. (R. 324 at p. 35.) The trial court did not resolve the valuation dispute.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under Utah law, separate property becomes part of the marital estate when it has been gifted to the other spouse; or when it has been consumed or commingled with marital property to the extent that its separate character can no longer be identified; or when the other spouse has contributed to its enhancement, maintenance, or protection.

Husband placed his interest in the Zions Bank stock in joint tenancy in 1985. The law presumes a transfer of a present interest, unless there is clear and convincing evidence that both parties intended the transaction to have some other effect. In this case, the court based its decision on Husband's testimony that he did not intend to transfer a present interest to his wife. Wife, however, was not informed of Husband's secret intent. In the light of the fiduciary duty owed by spouses to each other, and given the undisputed evidence that Wife

did not share Husband's secret intent, the legal standard for avoiding the transfer into joint tenancy was not met.

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