1999

Linda H. Jensen v. James T. Jensen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

In this case, the District Court's conclusory finding that "pursuant to its general equitable powers . . . certain assets should not be divided equally," even if tenuously coupled with the award of the ranch properties to Husband and the finding that Husband's work on the ranch required "weekend time away from the family", is similarly inadequate to show exceptional "circumstances and needs" of Wife which would "dictate a departure from the general rule" of equal distribution of marital property. See *Bradford*, 1999 UT App 373 ¶ 26, 384 Utah Adv. 26. It is unclear, and the District Court made no attempt to explain, why Husband's weekend work on the ranch could have created some persisting and current exceptional circumstance or need of Wife which could be compensated for with an interest in the ranch properties.

What the Court did here is clearly violative of the foundational principle, embodied in a long line of cases stretching from *Burt* and *Hall* to *Bradford*, that

identification and award of the parties' separate properties must be independent of, and must precede, the division of marital property. This Court cannot allow a trial court to disregard that principle, in the absence of explicit findings of extraordinary circumstance and need, without introducing ongoing doubt and uncertainty into our jurisprudence. To do so would severely limit the ability of the bar to provide reliable advice to clients contemplating divorce. And it would invite a flood of future appeals based upon little more than the desire of a marginally disappointed spouse to obtain at the hands of this Court the advantage he or she was denied at trial.

For the Court to justify the disproportionate division of the Jensen's marital estate on the ground that it had already awarded to Husband separate property, to which he was clearly entitled as a matter of law and that is "now of significant value" is a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion and should be reversed. See Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, ¶ 36, R. 236

CROSS-APPEAL POINT II.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN AWARDING WIFE ALIMONY OF \$4,000 PER MONTH.

Findings by the District Court. After concluding that Wife might expect to realize as much as \$100,000 annually, or \$8,300 per month, from income-producing property awarded to her, the District Court inexplicably then proceeded to award her alimony of \$4,000 per month. The Court did so without entering any findings as to the ongoing needs of either Wife or Husband. Moreover, as to Husband's ability to pay, the Court found only that Husband had been paying \$6,000 per month of temporary alimony, that Wife had been paying from that amount the mortgage

obligations on the Monica Cove residence totaling approximately \$2,200, that Husband would now make the mortgage payments, and that Husband had "gross income" of \$190,000 per year or \$16,250 per month. From these limited and incomplete findings the Court concluded that Husband could pay alimony of \$4,000 per month and that it was "fair, just and equitable" that he do so. See Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, ¶¶ 36, 37, R. 236-237.

Marshaled Evidence in Support of Finding. The evidence which may be marshaled in support of this conclusory finding consists of the following:

- (i) Although the Court made no determination in this regard, and although Husband's counsel developed evidence suggesting artificial inflation of the claimed expenses, the *maximum* amount of monthly expense which Wife claimed to anticipate following the divorce was \$7,652 per month.⁵ See Plaintiff's Post-Trial Brief, 17, R. 124.
- (ii) Although there was some disagreement as to Husband's disposable annual income, the Court could have concluded from a schedule created by Wife's expert, Dean Smith, that Husband's "after tax cash flow", based on 1995 income and expense as shown in the parties' tax return, was \$181,525 for that year, or \$15,127 per month. The Court's actual finding of \$190,000 may have been based on Husband's \$191,898 of "adjusted gross

⁵It is unclear whether this amount includes income taxes payable by Wife; Exhibit C to the Post-trial Brief, containing the detail, is missing from the Record.

income” taken from the same schedule. R. 324:53-56; Exhibit P-5.

- (iii) Husband’s expenses, net of alimony and child support, were shown at trial to be \$10,852 per month. R. 324:239-249, R. 325:91-92; Exhibit D-9.
- (iv) During the pendency of the divorce proceeding, Husband voluntarily paid Wife temporary alimony of \$6,000 per month, from which Wife paid the mortgage obligations on the Monica Cove and Spring Glen residences. The Spring Glen residence was sold by Husband and Wife during the pendency of the divorce proceedings, thereby relieving Wife from the \$700 per month payment required thereon.
- (v) The District Court stated as its reason for awarding alimony to Wife that “[Wife] should not be required to live off of the yield from her assets when the [Husband] would not be required to do so by reason of his separate earned income.” *Id.* at ¶ 37, R. 237.

From these marshaled facts, and *without taking into account either the wife’s earning capacity or amounts received from income-producing properties* awarded to her, it was *possible* for the Court to conclude that Husband had net income of \$15,127 per month which was sufficient to pay both his expenses of \$10,852 and alimony to wife of \$4,000 with a \$275 margin to spare. The Court, however, entered no finding to that effect.

Argument. Husband recognizes and accepts the general principle, articulated by this Court in *Childs v. Childs*, 967 P.2d 942 (Utah Ct. App. 1998), that

Trial courts have broad discretion in making alimony awards. Therefore, we will not disturb a trial court's alimony award so long as the trial court exercised its discretion within the appropriate legal standards and 'supported its decision with adequate findings and conclusions'

Id. at 946. (citations omitted) (quotations marks in original). In this case, however, the trial court neither applied "appropriate legal standards" nor did it support its decision with the required findings.

The legal standards applicable to alimony begin with the principle that "[t]he general purpose of alimony is to prevent the receiving spouse from becoming a public charge and to maintain to the extent possible the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage." *Schaumberg v. Schaumberg*, 875 P.2d 598, 601 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (citations omitted). Alimony is thus remedial, rather than punitive, in character. This, in turn, requires that the trial court make specific findings as to "(1) the financial conditions and needs of the receiving spouse; (2) the ability of the receiving spouse to support him or herself; and (3) the ability of the payor spouse to provide support." *Breinholt v. Breinholt*, 905 P.2d 877, 880 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) (citations omitted) (matter quoted in original).

The Utah Supreme Court has held that "where the income from the assets awarded to the plaintiff is sufficient to maintain her in the manner to which she is accustomed without periodic payments from the defendant," an award of substantial alimony is error. *See Dubois v. Dubois*, 504 P.2d 1380, 1381 (Utah 1973). Similarly, alimony was held not to be an appropriate means of adjusting a disparity between the

income of the parties where the wife to whom it was awarded had "substantial accumulated wealth and monthly income" which permitted her "a standard of living comparable to what she enjoyed during the marriage." *Burt v. Burt*, 799 P.2d 1166, 1171 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

The facts developed in the Record of this matter fall into a similar pattern. The Court found, and wife does not appear to dispute, that her receipts from the income-producing property awarded to her are sufficient without more to meet her needs. She did not claim, and the Court made no finding, that such an amount would be insufficient to maintain the standard of living to which she was accustomed. The Court did not even consider her personal earning capacity, although the evidence was that she had developed a useful level of office skills and was a "very good employee." R. 324:195-197.

On these facts, it was supererogatory and a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion for the Court to award her alimony in any amount, certainly at the level of \$4,000 per month, a punitive imposition on Husband without any demonstration of offsetting need on the part of Wife. The Court's stated reason for so doing, that "[Wife] should not be required to live off of the yield from her assets when the [Husband] would not be required to do so by reason of his separate earned income," is without foundation in relevant Utah case law and is at odds with the concept of alimony as a remedial rather than a punitive device.

Moreover, even if the Record evidence were sufficient to support an award of alimony in some amount to wife, the District Court failed to enter findings sufficient to enable this Court to evaluate the appropriateness of the award. In determining

alimony, Utah trial courts are required to consider and make specific findings regarding the needs of both spouses and the ability of the paying spouse. *See Breinholt*, 905 P.2d at 880. Of the three matters so required to be considered, the District Court entered findings of any degree only with respect to the third, the ability of the payor spouse to make the required payment, and that, mistakenly, a finding of gross income rather than disposable net.

The award of alimony to wife was, therefore, clear and prejudicial error and cannot stand.

REPLY TO APPELLANT'S POINT I.

WIFE IS NOT ENTITLED TO ONE-HALF OF THE ZIONS BANK SHARES AWARDED TO HUSBAND AS HIS SEPARATE PROPERTY.

Separate Property. The principles are well known which govern property brought into a marriage by gift to, or inheritance by, one of the parties. "As a general rule, equity requires that each party retain the separate property he or she brought into the marriage." *Haumont v. Haumont*, 793 P.2d 421, 424 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). Stating the matter more fully, the Utah Supreme Court has said,

[T]rial courts making 'equitable' property division pursuant to section 30-3-5 should . . . generally award property acquired by one spouse by gift and inheritance during the marriage (or property acquired in exchange thereof) to that spouse, together with any appreciation in its value, unless (1) the other spouse has by his or her efforts or expense contributed to the enhancement, maintenance, or protection of that property, thereby acquiring an equitable interest in it, or (2) the property has been consumed or its identity lost through commingling or exchanges or where the acquiring spouse has made a gift of an interest therein to the other spouse.

Mortensen v. Mortensen, 760 P.2d 304, 308 (Utah 1988) (citations omitted). In accordance with these principles, the District Court determined that the 2,126 shares

of Zions Bank stock which husband had brought with him into the marriage, and which had thereafter, by virtue of stock splits and dividend re-investments, less sales, grown to 58,352 shares, were the separate property of Husband.

Wife does not dispute that, on these facts alone, the 58,352 shares were Husband's separate property. She contends, however, that Husband's subsequent placing of the shares in joint tenancy at her request had the effect of conveying to her a present interest, thereby rendering the shares marital property.

In support of this contention, the Brief of Appellant somewhat confusingly argues that the creation of the joint tenancy operated to confer upon Wife a present interest as a matter of law, subject to a "correctness" standard of review, but then proceeds to argue the factual issue of the parties' intent in creating the joint tenancy. Without marshaling the evidence in favor of the trial court's finding that the shares remained the separate property of Husband notwithstanding the conveyance into joint tenancy, her brief then further confounds the analysis by failing to make critical distinctions between cases where the joint tenancy is at issue as between the joint tenants and those cases where the action is brought by a third party. A final source of confusion is the use of precedent from other jurisdictions which has been specifically rejected in Utah and citation of Utah cases for their dicta "sound-bites" rather than for their holdings.

Facts. Before examining the case law, it is important to be clear as to the Record facts, including the testimony of Wife which parallels that of Husband as to the purpose of placing the shares in joint tenancy. In support of her claim that Husband placed the 58,352 shares in joint tenancy with the intent of conveying a

present interest, her brief emphasizes Wife's testimony that she asked Husband to place the shares in joint tenancy because, "I just feel like isn't that what this marriage is all about. We're both working in the same direction for the same ends." See Brief of Appellant, p. 5, (*citing* R. 323:64). But the brief fails to quote her further testimony that she raised the issue with Husband because of her concerns about the fate of the shares in the event of his untimely death. "At that particular time I felt like it was very important, because he was gone a lot. And I said to Jim, '[i]f something ever happened to you, you know I - I wouldn't want to have to deal with it.'" R. 323:128.

When that testimony is included, the testimony of both parties as to the limited purpose for which Husband placed the shares in joint tenancy is entirely consistent. It was Husband's corroborating testimony that "[s]he indicated to me that the stock was all in my name, and she was concerned if something happened to me, and that I was traveling, and away from home a lot, what would happen. To my stock." R. 324:214-216. The assertion in the Brief of Appellant that "Husband's only evidence that no present interest was intended was his own self-serving statement made years after the fact" is thus plainly false.

The Brief of Appellant not only omits to note the simple and compelling consistency of the testimony of the two parties, but further obscures the facts by imputing to Husband a desire to conceal from Wife his "secret" intention to convey less than a present interest in the shares, a motive for which there is not a scrap of evidence in the Record, and for which her brief cites none, and by indulging in an irrelevant disquisition on the fiduciary duties owed between spouses. *See Pierce v.*

Pierce, 386 Utah Adv. Rep. 38, ¶¶ 18-22. One might as well conclude that, since Wife communicated to Husband no other reason for requesting that he place the shares in joint tenancy than fear of his untimely death, she thereby concealed *her* secret intention to acquire a present interest in the shares in breach of her fiduciary duty to him!

But none of this artful dodging matters, because **Husband** gave Wife precisely what *she* asked for, a conveyance in joint tenancy for the limited purpose of providing protection against the possibility of Husband's untimely death. That was *her* idea. Even in the course of testimony elicited by her own friendly counsel Wife was unable to identify any other coherent reason for her request than the vague "I just feel like isn't that what this marriage is all about. We're both working in the same direction for the same ends." R. 323:64. Had the Court, hearing this nebulous formulation in its larger context, believed that Wife actually meant to say something like "I wanted a present interest in my husband's shares," the Court could have so found. It did not. Had there been *any* evidence that she sought a present interest in the shares or that Husband engaged in concealment of expert or superior knowledge to prevent that result, the Court could have found that as well, but did not. And the Court did not because there was nothing before it to support either of those extravagant propositions. But the Brief of Appellant asserts them as fact and from them then bootstraps her entire argument.

The District Court, having heard the testimony of both parties, including the inconvenient facts not marshaled by Wife in her brief, and having weighed the credibility of the witnesses, found as follows:

This change [the placing of the shares in joint tenancy] was made according to the testimony of the parties at a time when the Defendant was engaged in significant business travel, and the change was made to avoid probate in the event of his untimely death. There was no evidence adduced at the trial of any donative intent with respect to such exchange.

Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ¶ 18, R. 230-231. That finding is entitled to the deference owed by an appellate court to the trial court that heard the witnesses, whose determination it will not set aside unless clearly erroneous. *See Schaumberg v. Schaumberg*, 875 P.2d 598 (Ut. Ct. App. 1994); *Yelderman v. Yelderman*, 669 P.2d 406 (Utah 1983).

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